
 

Meeting Agenda ……………………………………………………………………………………………………………….1 

September 2024 Meeting Minutes* …….………………………………………………………………………………3 

WMCC Project Requests – Executive Committee Decisions (Sept. 2024 – Jan. 2025) ………………...9 

Commission Decision Points* .………………………………………………………………………………………….11 

Stormwater & Septic Leachate Toxics Reduction Grant Applications are Open ………………………..14 

WMCC Video Playlist ……………………………………………………………………………………………………….17 

Community-Based Social Marketing: An Introduction ………………………………………………………….19 

*Action item 

 

 

 



January 22 - 23, 2025
Meeting Agenda

 Wednesday January 22 - 11:00 AM to 4:00 PM
LOCATION: G.W. Marks Exploration Center
1075 South Avenue West, Missoula, MT 59801

For virtual attendees: tinyurl.com/WMCC-Jan-2025
or scan QR Code

11:00 AM

12:45 PM

12:30 PM

12:00 PM

12:15 PM

3:45 PM

3:00 PM

4:00 PM

1:10 PM

5:00 PM

Assistant State Climatologist, Montana Climate Office, University
of Montana

Public Comment

Presentation by Dr. Zach Hoylman

Adjourn

Social-Ecological Systems & 
Community-Based Social Marketing

Lunch (provided)

Call to Order & Roll Call
Overview of agenda

Tribal Welcome

Commission Business
Financials
Staff updates
September 2024 Meeting Minutes
Action: Vote on September 2024 Meeting Minutes

Overview & how WMCC incorporates these concepts into our work

Social Hour

12:45 PM12:20 PM International Joint Commission Update

2:10 PM EPA Toxics Reduction Grant Updates

1:50 PM Break

Action: Vote on Commission Decision Points

Page 1 of 30

https://tinyurl.com/WMCC-Jan-2025


 Thursday, January 23 - 8:30 AM to 1:00 PM

January 22 - 23, 2025
Meeting Agenda

8:45 AM

8:50 AM

9:05 AM

10:30 AM

12:15 PM

12:30 PM

11:15 AM

Public Comment

Emergency/Hazardous Response Panel

Call to Order & Roll Call

Committee Updates

Commission Member Spotlight

Legislative Session Updates

Wrap up & Adjourn Meeting
Join us for lunch (provided)

T.J. Hagemo, Phillips 66
Justin Piper, Hazardous Materials Safety Director, BNSF
Adriane Beck, Director Office of Emergency Management,
Missoula County

Rich Janssen, CSKT Natural Resources Department Head

8:30 AM Welcome
Light breakfast items provided

Bill Tracker & Tracking Legislation
WMCC processes

10:15 AM Break

Page 2 of 30



The Western Montana Conservation Commission is administratively attached to the Montana DNRC. 

655 Timberwolf Pkwy | Kalispell, MT | WesternMTWaters.com 

Wednesday, January 15, 2025 

TO: Western Montana Conservation Commission Members 

FROM: Stephanie Murphy, WMCC Communications Coordinator 

SUBJECT: September 2024 Meeting Minutes  

ACTION ITEM: ☒ INFORMATIONAL ITEM: ☐

Summary: 

Meeting minutes were recorded for our September 2024 Commission Meeting and require review and 
approval.  

Requested Action: 

Vote to approve the September 2024 Meeting Minutes. 

Suggested Motion: 

Move to approve the September 2024 Meeting Minutes. 

Staff Contact: 

Stephanie Murphy, Communications Coordinator, stephanie.murphy@mt.gov 

Page 3 of 30

mailto:stephanie.murphy@mt.gov


1 

Western Montana Conservation Commission (WMCC) Meeting Minutes 
Student Union Building - Montana Technological University, Butte, MT 
Virtual option on Zoom 
Minutes prepared by Stephanie Murphy 

Acronyms 

AIS Aquatic Invasive Species FLBS Flathead Lake Biological Station 
BPA Bonneville Power Administration FWP Montana Fish, Wildlife & Parks 

BSWC Big Sky Watershed Corps MCDEE Missoula County Department of Ecology & Extension 

CARDD 
Conservation & Resource Development 
Division (DNRC) 

MISC Montana Invasive Species Council 

CRC Clearwater Resource Council TU Trout Unlimited 
CSKT Confederated Salish & Kootenai Tribes WET Water & Environmental Technologies 
DEQ Montana Dept. of Environmental Quality WMCC Western Montana Conservation Commission 

DNRC 
Montana Dept. of Natural Resources & 
Conservation WPCAC Water Pollution Control Advisory Council 

Day One: 
Wednesday September 11, 2024 | 11:30 AM – 4:00 PM 

1. Welcome & Introductions

Recognition of Water 
Stewards 
Mike Koopal, Chair 

1. Welcome
2. Kathy Hadley & Vicki Watson

Call to Order 
Mike Koopal, Chair 

1. Overview of agenda
2. Overview of meeting structure and rules
3. Welcome new commission members: Caroline McDonald & Cory Sandow

Roll Call 
Attendance 

WMCC (voting members underlined): 
Mike Koopal, Onno Wieringa, Lech Naumovich, Rich Janssen, Arthur Potts, Duane 
Braaten, Sandy Beder-Miller, Caroline McDonald, Tracy Campbell, Matt Peterson, 
Phil Matson, Rep. Neil Duram, Tom Woolf, Jim Elser, Sara Edinberg, Martin Charlo, 
Peter Brumm, Kate Wilson, Melissa Schaar, Casey Lewis, Emilie Henry, Kelly 
Hendrix, Stephanie Murphy, Kristen Jordan, Krista Lammers, Clarissa Orton, Mark 
Bostrom 

Virtual WMCC: 
Ron Pifer, Andy Ulven (filling in for Lindsey Krywaruchka), Sen. Mike Cuffe, Sen. 
Janet Ellis, Cory Sandow, Michelle Cox 

Absent members: 
Randy Brodehl, Josh Letcher, Scott Rumsey, Julie Spencer, Rep. Tom France, Jim 
Ferch, Tom Martin, Galen Steffens, Greg Hoffman 

Partners & guests: 
Mark Mariano (MT Wetlands & Waterfowl), Clayton Elliot (TU), Nanette Nelson 
(FLBS), Coby Gierke (Flathead Lakers), Susan Brurud (WET), Kathy Hadley 

Virtual partners & guests: 

Page 4 of 30



2 

Tom Bansak (FLBS), Janelle Groff (FLBS), Dave Torrell (CRC), Austin Jaynes (FWP), 
Margarite Juarez Thomas (City of Kalispell), Andy Ulven (DEQ, filling in for Lindsey 
Krywaruchka), Will Meyer (Midwest Assistance Program), Meagan Gilmore (DEQ), 
Chris Collins, Liz Lodman (MISC), Tiffany Lyden (DEQ), Trey George (City of 
Spokane), Ken Walsh, Vicki Watson 

Quorum established 

Indigenous Lands 
Welcome 
Martin Charlo, CSKT 

1. Martin Charlo acknowledged local tribes and remembered those lost on 9/11 and the
first responders impacted that day.

2. Agenda

Presenter Topic/Discussion 

Commission Business 
Mike Koopal, Chair 

Casey Lewis, Executive 
Director 

Stephanie Murphy, 
Communications 
Coordinator 

Emilie Henry, Program 
Coordinator 

Kelly Hendrix, Program 
Coordinator 

1. Mike Koopal called for comments on the June Meeting Minutes
a. Motion was made by Onno Wieringa to approve minutes; seconded by Arthur

Potts
b. Motion passes unanimously by a vote of 12-0

2. Casey Lewis provided an overview of FY25 financials.
3. Staff Updates:

a. Stephanie Murphy introduced the FY24 Biennial Report, provided updates on the
Montana Waters campaign (videos and graphic design), and included a save the
date for a Water Quality Rotunda Event at the State Capitol on March 7, 2025.

b. Emilie Henry provided updates on on WMCC’s Big Sky Watershed Corps
applications and funding, WMCC’s current Bureau of Reclamation grants and
next grant application, and the Flathead Rain Garden Initiative. Emilie also
overviewed the 2024 Flathead Waters Cleanup Event.

c. Kelly Hendrix introduced the Vermillion Restoration Grant Support project, and
presented an overview of upcoming relevant events.

4. Preview of the FY24 Biennial Report
5. Mike Koopal recognized Stephanie Murphy and Kelly Hendrix’s 1-year anniversary with

WMCC.

Legislative Session 
Outlook 
Mark Bostrom, DNRC 
CARDD Division 
Administrator 

1. Mark Bostrom provided an overview of expectation for the upcoming Montana
legislative session. This included:

a. Information on speaking with legislators as a private citizen or on behalf of
WMCC with clearance from the Commission

b. Navigating Bill Explorer (bill.legmt.gov)
c. Impacts of redistricting on this session

2. Topic was opened for discussion for Commission members and members of the public.
a. Clayton Elliot (TU) stressed the importance of educating legislators on natural

resource issues and collaborating with agencies to support aquatic invasive
species and water quality efforts.

b. AIS Rotunda Event in the State Capitol will be hosted by MISC in February.
Public Comment 
Mike Koopal 

1. Mike Koopal called for public comment.
2. Seeing none, Mike Koopal closed public comment.

Page 5 of 30



 
 

3 
 

Adjourn 
Mike Koopal, WMCC 
Chair 

1. Mike Koopal provided an overview of tomorrow’s agenda. 
2. Stephanie Murphy provided information about the Butte field trip. 
3. Krista Lammers provided information about the social hour. 
4. Motion to adjourn by Onno Wieringa, seconded by Sandy Beder-Miller 

a. Motion passes unanimously by a vote of 12-0; meeting adjourned. 

Field Trip 
1. Bell-Diamond Overlook of the Berkeley Pit field trip with Ripple (formerly Clark Fork 

Watershed Education Program). 

 
Day Two: 
Thursday September 12, 2024 | 8:30 AM – 1:00 PM 
 

1. Welcome & Introductions 

Call to Order 
Mike Koopal, Chair 

1. Mike Koopal called the meeting to order. 
2. Mike Koopal presented an overview of the agenda and meeting structure. 

Roll Call  
Attendance 

WMCC (voting members underlined):  
Mike Koopal, Onno Wieringa, Lech Naumovich, Rich Janssen, Arthur Potts, Duane 
Braaten, Sandy Beder-Miller, Caroline McDonald, Tracy Campbell, Matt Peterson, 
Phil Matson, Rep. Neil Duram, Tom Woolf, Jim Elser, Sara Edinberg, Martin Charlo, 
Peter Brumm, Kate Wilson, Casey Lewis, Emilie Henry, Kelly Hendrix, Stephanie 
Murphy, Kristen Jordan, Krista Lammers, Clarissa Orton, Mark Bostrom 

Virtual WMCC:  
Ron Pifer, Andy Ulven (filling in for Lindsey Krywaruchka), Sen. Janet Ellis, Cory 
Sandow, Michelle Cox, Galen Steffens 

Absent members:  
Randy Brodehl, Josh Letcher, Scott Rumsey, Julie Spencer, Rep. Tom France, Jim 
Ferch, Tom Martin, Galen Steffens, Greg Hoffman, Melissa Schaar 

Partners & guests:  
Coby Gierke (Flathead Lakers), Nanette Nelson (FLBS), Coby Gierke (Flathead Lakers), 
Susan Brurud (WET) 

Virtual partners & guests:  
Tom Bansak (FLBS), Austin Jaynes (FWP), Liz Lodman (MISC), Tiffany Lyden (DEQ), 
Russ Hartzell (MISC), Margarite Juarez Thomas (City of Kalispell), Amanda Knuteson 
(WPCAC), Meagan Gilmore (DEQ), Will Meyer (Midwest Assistance Program), Chris 
Collins, Janelle Groff (FLBS)  

Quorum established 
Indigenous Lands 
Welcome 
Rich Janssen, CSKT 
 

1. Rich Janssen acknowledged local tribes and the history of movement through this area 
for bison hunting.  

2. Agenda 

Presenter Topic/Discussion 

Page 6 of 30



4 

Commission Member 
Spotlight 
Mike Koopal, Chair 

Arthur Potts, Avista 

1. Mike Koopal invited WMCC Member, Arthur Potts to speak.
2. Arthur Potts, Avista Terrestrial Program Manager, provided an overview of his career

and the responsibilities of Avista along the Lower Clark Fork.

MT Aquatic Invasive 
Species Updates 
Tom Woolf, FWP 

1. Tom Woolf, FWP AIS Bureau Chief, presented background information about AIS in
Montana, outlined the efforts addressing AIS in the state, and shared how WMCC fits
into these efforts.

BSWC Member Term 
Presentation 
Clarissa Orton, BSWC 
Member 

1. Clarissa Orton, BSWC Member with WMCC & MCDEE, presented an overview of their
term including WMCC’s AIS industry outreach program, additional AIS education and
outreach efforts, and monitoring work with MCDEE.

Break 

Committee Updates 
Nanette Nelson, FLBS 

Mike Koopal, Chair 

Lech Naumovich, 
Greater Than Image 

Kate Wilson, BPA 

Kristen Jordan, Grant 
Program Specialist 

1. Nanette Nelson provided an update on the Onsite Wastewater Committee-in-
Development including:

a. Development progress, committee objectives, participants, and identified
projects: white paper series, education & outreach

b. Motion made by Phil Matson to formally approve the Onsite Wastewater
Treatment Committee; seconded by Onno Wieringa

i. Motion passes unanimously by a vote of 12-0
2. Mike Koopal provided an update on the Executive Committee.
3. Phil Matson provided an update on the AIS Committee.

a. Next steps include inviting external partner to discuss gaps, needs, and
successes in the Montana AIS realm.

4. Lech Naumovich provided an update on the Monitoring & Coordination Committee.
a. Discussion from Commission about committee efforts and potential monitoring

data sources
5. Kate Wilson provided an update on the Education, Outreach, and Communications

Committee.
6. Mike Koopal proposed holding regular committee chair meetings.
7. Kristen Jordan provided an update on the Stormwater Advisory Council.

EPA Toxics Reduction 
Grant Updates 
Kristen Jordan, Grant 
Program Specialist 

Heidi Fleury, Grant 
Program Specialist 

Stephanie Murphy, 
Communications 
Coordinator 

1. Kristen Jordan presented an overview of the EPA Toxics Reduction Grant.
2. Heidi Fleury outlined the grant direct subawards.
3. Stephanie Murphy invited the Commission to attend the Community Based Social

Marketing Workshop support by grant funds.
4. Heidi Fleury outlined the grant contracted funds.
5. Emilie Henry provided an update on the Quality Assurance Project Plans (QAPP) required

for grant-funded research.
6. Heidi Fleury outlined the grant competitive subawards and potential commission

involvement in the competitive process.
7. Krista Lammers provided an overview of the Grant Program Guidelines and the public

review proccess. She outlined next steps for the competitive grants.
a. Discussion from the Commission about the application proccess.

Page 7 of 30



 
 

5 
 

Emilie Henry, Program 
Coordinator 
 
Krista Lammers, Grant 
Administrative 
Specialist 
 

b. Motion by Onno Wieringa to approve the grant program guidelines as 
presented; seconded by Tracy Campbell 

i. Motion passes unanimously by a vote of 12-0 

Public Comment 
Mike Koopal, Chair 
 

1. Mike Koopal called for public comment. 
2. Seeing none, Mike Koopal closed public comment. 

Wrap up & Next 
Meeting 
Mike Koopal, Chair 
 

1. Executive Committee will discuss next meeting dates for 2025. 

Adjourn 
Mike Koopal, Chair 
 

1. Motion by Onno Wieringa to adjourn meeting; seconded by Caroline McDonald 
a. Motion passes unanimously by a vote of 12-0; meeting adjourned. 

 

Page 8 of 30



The Western Montana Conservation Commission is administratively attached to the Montana DNRC. 

655 Timberwolf Pkwy | Kalispell, MT | WesternMTWaters.com 

Wednesday, January 15, 2025 

TO: Western Montana Conservation Commission Members 

FROM: Casey Lewis, WMCC Executive Director 

SUBJECT: WMCC Project Requests - Executive Committee Decisions (September 
2024 – January 2025) 

ACTION ITEM: ☐ INFORMATIONAL ITEM: ☒ 

Summary: 

WMCC receives project requests through our website: Coordination & Collaboration - Western Montana 
Conservation Commission 

Staff review submissions and bring the requests to the Executive Committee for review and decision. 
Below is a summary of the project request decisions the Executive Committee has made since the last 
Commission meeting (September 2024 – January 2025). 

Date: 09/24/2024 
Applicant: GOVRAX (https://www.govrax.com) 
Decision: Not Funded 
Summary: GOVRAX requested an introduction into state/local government and wildlife agencies to 
demonstrate the capabilities of their product. Executive Committee voted not to proceed with 
introductions as the request did not align with WMCC's strategic priorities and the request appeared to 
be more in line with marketing and sales efforts, which is outside the scope of WMCC’s role. 

Date: 11/05/2024 
Applicant: Citizen - Bull River Motorized Watercraft Ban Letter of Support Request 
Decision: Track Issue – Support further discussions  
Summary: WMCC received a request to support a petition from a local citizen to ban motorized boats on 
the Bull River that was expected to be brought in front of the Montana Fish and Wildlife Commission 
(FWC) in December. WMCC reached out to the FWC and was informed the petition was not on the 
December agenda. Executive Committee understood the water quality and recreation safety concerns 

Page 9 of 30

https://westernmtwaters.com/our-work-and-projects/coordination-collaboration/
https://westernmtwaters.com/our-work-and-projects/coordination-collaboration/
https://www.govrax.com/


 

that motorized watercraft may cause on the Bull River. The threats to water quality from wave-induced 
erosion also have the potential to jeopardize restoration. WMCC recognized the benefits of an open 
dialogue on this issue and Executive Committee communicated that WMCC will listen to the discussion 
when it is scheduled at the FWC and track opportunities during the public scoping process. 
 
Date: 12/17/2024 
Applicant: Clark Fork Coalition 
Decision: Partially Funded - $7500 
Summary: The Clark Fork Coalition requested funding to complete the Watershed Restoration Plan 
(WRP) for the Central Clark Fork watershed. CFC requested $23,000 in funding to complete the WRP in 
2025. Executive Committee understands the value and additional resources that a completed WRP 
provides. Based on the operational funding status and other funding opportunities available, the 
Executive Committee voted to offer partial funding of $7500. WMCC staff provided CFC with suggested 
additional funding sources to help bridge the funding gap if CFC chooses to pursue them. Executive 
Committee additionally recommended that these partial funds may be used to help create a paired-
down WRP with more advanced visuals perhaps being a phase 2 goal if more funding becomes available. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 10 of 30



The Western Montana Conservation Commission is administratively attached to the Montana DNRC. 

655 Timberwolf Pkwy | Kalispell, MT | WesternMTWaters.com 

Wednesday, January 15, 2025 

TO: Western Montana Conservation Commission Members 

FROM: WMCC Executive Committee 
Casey Lewis, WMCC Executive Director 

SUBJECT: Commission Decision Points 

ACTION ITEM: ☒ INFORMATIONAL ITEM: ☐

Summary: 

The WMCC Executive Director and Executive Committee developed a proposed document outlining how 
decisions on various topics will be made by the Commission. Having written procedures for decision 
making allows for further transparency and clarity on how the Commission functions. Please review the 
draft Commission decision points. 

Requested Action: 

Staff and Executive Committee recommend the Commission adopt the Commission Decision Points as 
presented.  

Suggested Motion: 

Move to approve the proposed Commission Decision Points document for adoption by the Western 
Montana Conservation Commission. 

Staff Contact: 

Casey Lewis, Executive Director, casey.lewis@mt.gov 

Page 11 of 30

mailto:casey.lewis@mt.gov


 

DRAFT – Commission Decision Points 
Project Request 

• Pending a project request submittal reviewed by staff to determine the initial eligibility, if it is 
within WMCC’s statutory duties, and funding recommendations/limitations:  

o ≤ $5000 
 Discretion of WMCC Chair and Executive Director 

• If the Chair is unavailable, the Vice-Chair may provide the second 
approval.  

• If the Chair and Vice-Chair are both unavailable, any member of the 
Executive Committee may provide the second approval. 
 $5000 – $10,000 

 Executive Committee vote 
 $10,000 

 Full WMCC vote 

Letter of Support for a Grant 

• Grant is within the current work and direction of WMCC. The request does not require funds 
and/or negligible to minimal work from WMCC. The topic is not currently considered 
contentious (examples may include superfund sites, current litigation on a project/topic, WMCC 
representation falls on multiple sides of an issue, etc.). 

o Discretion of WMCC Chair and Executive Director 
• Grant requires WMCC staff time/participation greater than 10 hours. The topic is not 

contentious. 
o Executive Committee vote 

• Grant topic is contentious. 
o Full WMCC vote 

Public Comment  

• On a Project 
o The project is within the current work area of WMCC.  

 Executive Committee vote 
o The project is within potential areas of work for WMCC. 

 Full WMCC vote 
• On a Petition/Issue 

o General support of discussion/exploration of a topic 
 Executive Committee vote 

o Taking a stance (for or against) 
 Full WMCC vote 

WMCC-Led Petition 

• Full WMCC vote 

Page 12 of 30



 

WMCC-Led Stand-Alone Forum Request by a Commission Member 

• Executive Committee discussion/recommendation 
o Full WMCC vote 

Legislative Testimony  

*All testimony requires communication and coordination with the DNRC Director’s Office* 

• Informational 
o Executive Director’s discretion 

• Taking a stance (for or against) 
o Executive Committee vote 

 If any commission members are planning to provide testimony, the Chair and 
Executive Director shall communicate with the DNRC Director about the 
proposed direction.  

o If there isn’t time for an Executive Committee vote, the Executive Director and Chair of 
WMCC may decide to advance testimony through the DNRC approval process without an 
Executive Committee vote if there is a strong reason to do so.  

Page 13 of 30



The Western Montana Conservation Commission is administratively attached to the Montana DNRC. 

655 Timberwolf Pkwy | Kalispell, MT | WesternMTWaters.com 

Wednesday, January 15, 2025 

TO: Western Montana Conservation Commission Members 

FROM: WMCC Staff 

SUBJECT: Stormwater & Septic Leachate Toxics Reduction Grant Applications are 
Open 

ACTION ITEM: ☐ INFORMATIONAL ITEM: ☒ 

Summary: 

WMCC received a Columbia River Basin Toxics Reduction Lead Grant from the EPA for $6,998,041.71 in 
late 2023. Part of this funding, nearly 3.2 million, is designated for four competitive grant programs that 
WMCC developed over the last year.  

As of January 15, 2025, the Western Montana Conservation Commission (WMCC) and the Montana 
Department of Natural Resources & Conservation (DNRC) are accepting grant applications aimed at 
mitigating the effects of toxic pollution on water quality in western Montana.  

The grant guidelines, applications, and other resources are on our website - 
https://westernmtwaters.com/our-work-and-projects/grants-resources/. The applications will remain 
open until all program funds are awarded. The first review of applications will begin in Spring 2025 and a 
second review will begin in Summer 2025 as funds are available. 

Competitive grant programs include: 

1. Residential Septic System Education & Maintenance Program - $50,000 max award

2. Septic System Replacement & Sewer Connectivity - $80,000 max award

3. Showcase Green Stormwater Infrastructure Project - $1,100,000 max award

4. Residential & Community Green Stormwater Infrastructure Program - $50,000 max award

Page 14 of 30

https://westernmtwaters.com/our-work-and-projects/grants-resources/


 

Each program requires a 25% non-federal cost-share. Eligible applicants include Tribal Governments, 
Local Governments, Non-profit Organizations, and Education Organizations that service western 
Montana. 

Staff Contact: 

Heidi Fleury - Grant Program Specialist, Heidi.Fleury@mt.gov  

Kristen Jordan - Grant Program Specialist, Kristen.Jordan@mt.gov  

Krista Lammers - Grant Administrative Specialist, Krista.Lammers@mt.gov  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 15 of 30

mailto:Heidi.Fleury@mt.gov
mailto:Kristen.Jordan@mt.gov
mailto:Krista.Lammers@mt.gov


STORMWATER & SEPTIC LEACHATE
TOXICS REDUCTION GRANT
APPLICATIONS ARE OPEN!

Residential Septic System Education & Maintenance 

Septic System Replacement & Sewer Connectivity

Showcase Green Stormwater Infrastructure 

Residential & Community Green Stormwater Infrastructure 

Applications will remain open until all program funds are awarded. First review of applications will
begin the first week of March 2025. A second review will begin in Summer 2025 as funds are
available.

APPLY: WWW.WESTERNMTWATERS.COM 

Competitive grant programs include:

Grant Program Guidelines
Application Materials
Funding & Eligibility
FAQs

SCAN HERE FOR: Each program requires at 25% non-federal
cost-share. Eligible applicants include Tribal
Governments, Local Governments, Non-
profit Organizations, and Education
Organizations that are implementing
programs in western Montana.

Develop or expand residential septic maintenance programs that provide cost-
share, outreach, and programming on water quality impacts.

Support projects that benefit local water quality by replacing septic systems or
connecting to sewer services.

Create green stormwater infrastructure projects designed to mitigate pollution
and reduce runoff while showcasing co-benefits.

Develop or expand residential green stormwater infrastructure programs that
provide development support, programming, and outreach on water quality impacts.
Max award is $50,000

Max award is $1,100,000

Max award is $80,000

Max award is $50,000



The Western Montana Conservation Commission is administratively attached to the Montana DNRC. 

655 Timberwolf Pkwy | Kalispell, MT | WesternMTWaters.com 

Wednesday, January 15, 2025 

TO: Western Montana Conservation Commission Members 

FROM: Stephanie Murphy, WMCC Communications Coordinator 

SUBJECT: WMCC Video Playlist 

ACTION ITEM: ☐ INFORMATIONAL ITEM: ☒ 

Summary: 

WMCC has produced three aquatic invasive species (AIS) videos and four Montana Waters: Clearly 
Connected water quality PSA videos that are now available to view on the Montana DNRC’s YouTube 
channel in the WMCC Playlist. 

Staff Contact: 

Stephanie Murphy, Communications Coordinator, stephanie.murphy@mt.gov 

Background and Discussion: 

WMCC contracted with a videography company, Conservation Media, to produce AIS and Montana 
Waters: Clearly Connected PSA videos. The AIS videos, as dictated by an MOU with MT FWP, are free to 
use for FWP purposes. The contract’s scope of work has been amended this year to include shorter 
versions (15-30 seconds) of the Fly Angler video, as requested by FWP, for use in advertising and social 
media. The Montana Waters: Clearly Connected videos have been recently completed and published 
after review by the Education, Outreach, and Communication (EOC) Committee. They will be used to 
promote the Montana Waters campaign and are intended to inspire action to protect water quality.  

Next Steps: 

The videos will be shared and boosted on WMCC’s social media channels and provided to partner 
organizations as a resource.  

Page 17 of 30



WMCC Video Playlist

WMCC has a YouTube video playlist on the
Montana DNRC YouTube channel. This playlist
includes recorded informational meetings,
aquatic invasive species prevention and
informational videos, and Montana Waters:
Clearly Connected water quality videos.
WMCC Video Playlist

Aquatic Invasive Species
Prevention in Montana

overview about AIS threatening
Montana and steps for prevention;
shared with industry seasonal
employees

Fly Anglers: Protect Our Waters
From Aquatic Invasive Species

AIS prevention information
specifically targeting fly anglers

Aquatic Invasive Species
Monitoring Techniques

overview of AIS monitoring to share
with community science groups and
volunteers

Montana Waters: Clearly
Connected

quick introduction to campaign
Clearly Connected: Maintaining
Your Septic System to Protect
Montana Waters

quick septic maintenance actions
and water quality impacts

Become a Montana Waters
Steward

top actions to protect water quality
Clearly Connected: Keeping
Pollutants Out of Stormwater

quick actions to mitigate
stormwater pollution

Page 18 of 30

https://www.youtube.com/playlist?list=PL52KImQoaOx3UBeq0vQlxPK_gJbeI_UbS
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=T745TV7aSAs&list=PL52KImQoaOx3UBeq0vQlxPK_gJbeI_UbS&index=7
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=T745TV7aSAs&list=PL52KImQoaOx3UBeq0vQlxPK_gJbeI_UbS&index=7
https://youtu.be/SpDykEu7jPE?si=_J0iRMiQGLs0qWsr
https://youtu.be/SpDykEu7jPE?si=_J0iRMiQGLs0qWsr
https://youtu.be/13svG4fKs3U?si=o-ijYMqI3A0_KvoD
https://youtu.be/13svG4fKs3U?si=o-ijYMqI3A0_KvoD
https://youtu.be/99dh8AhEwJw?si=8LSQHd6cVATAc6BU
https://youtu.be/99dh8AhEwJw?si=8LSQHd6cVATAc6BU
https://youtu.be/CJan8UOynfU?si=uid2ahvlmlz-kuWP
https://youtu.be/CJan8UOynfU?si=uid2ahvlmlz-kuWP
https://youtu.be/CJan8UOynfU?si=uid2ahvlmlz-kuWP
https://youtu.be/X8z-pwuJsoI?si=aE_LHuQbjOh1qxs8
https://youtu.be/X8z-pwuJsoI?si=aE_LHuQbjOh1qxs8
https://youtu.be/jJC1676mTXE?si=jbEf8-aYCg1U_FoE
https://youtu.be/jJC1676mTXE?si=jbEf8-aYCg1U_FoE


The Western Montana Conservation Commission is administratively attached to the Montana DNRC. 

655 Timberwolf Pkwy | Kalispell, MT | WesternMTWaters.com 

Wednesday, January 15, 2025 

TO: Western Montana Conservation Commission Members 

FROM: Stephanie Murphy, WMCC Communications Coordinator 
Emilie Henry, WMCC Program Coordinator 

SUBJECT: Community-Based Social Marketing: An introduction to fostering 
sustainable behavior 

ACTION ITEM: ☐ INFORMATIONAL ITEM: ☒ 

Summary: 

Community-Based Social Marketing (CBSM) is utilized for promoting targeted behavioral changes in 
communities. This introduction provides the fundamentals of CBSM and how it can be applied to 
outreach programs. 

Staff Contact: 

Stephanie Murphy, Communications Coordinator, stephanie.murphy@mt.gov 

Emilie Henry, Program Coordinator, emilie.henry@mt.gov 

Background and Discussion: 

In November 2024, WMCC hosted a free, online CBSM workshop for aquatic resource partners in 
Montana and the Columbia River Basin, funded by our EPA Toxics Reduction Lead Grant. Of the 97 
workshop participants, many have expressed interest in utilizing CBSM frameworks in their outreach 
programs to prompt sustainable behavior change in our communities. WMCC will be relying heavily on 
CBSM frameworks in our EPA grant-funded community research to identify behaviors to protect water 
quality and the barriers to engaging in those behaviors. This research will inform the Montana Waters: 
Clearly Connected campaign as we implement a strategy to promote behavioral changes around water 
quality in western Montana.  

Page 19 of 30

mailto:stephanie.murphy@mt.gov
mailto:emilie.henry@mt.gov


INTRODUCTION: FOSTERING SUSTAINABLE BEHAVIOR1

he cornerstone of sustainability is behavior change. Sustainability requires 
that we tackle diverse goals, such as increasing water and energy efficiency, 
protecting water quality and biodiversity, reducing waste, and altering 

transportation choices. If we are to hasten the transition to a sustainable future 
we must encourage the adoption of a wide array of behaviors that support 
these goals. To date, most initiatives to foster sustainable behavior have relied 
primarily upon large-scale information campaigns that utilize education and/or 
advertising to encourage the adoption of sustainable actions. While education 
and advertising can be effective in creating awareness and in changing attitudes, 
numerous studies document that behavior change rarely occurs as a result of 
simply providing information as information alone cannot address the diversity 
of barriers that exist for most sustainable behaviors (Environment Canada, 2006; 
Geller, 1981; Geller, Erickson, & Buttram, 1983; Jordan, Hungerford & Tomera, 
1986; Midden, 1983; Schultz, 2002; Tedeschi, Cann & Siegfried, 1982). In contrast, 
community-based social marketing has been demonstrated to be an attractive 
alternative to information-intensive campaigns for the design of programs to 
foster sustainable behavior (McKenzie-Mohr & Smith, 1999; McKenzie-Mohr, 
2010). Thousands of programs are now utilizing this methodology and o#en with 
remarkable results. To learn more about community-based social marketing read 
Fostering sustainable behavior: An introduction to community-based social marketing 
(McKenzie-Mohr, 2011). Also visit the community-based social marketing 
website (cbsm.com) where you can find articles, case studies and discussion 
forums related to fostering sustainable behavior.

Community-based social marketing is based upon research in the social 
sciences that demonstrates that behavior change is o#en most effectively 
achieved through initiatives delivered at the community level that focus on 
removing barriers to an activity while simultaneously enhancing the activity’s 
benefits. Community-based social marketing merges knowledge from the social 
sciences with knowledge from the field of social marketing (see, for example, 
Andreasen, 2006; Kotler and Lee, 2008). Social marketing has been utilized for 
several decades primarily to promote behavioral changes that improve public 
health and prevent injuries. Community-based social marketing borrows from 
social marketing an emphasis on understanding what impedes and motivates 
a target audience to act as well as the importance of piloting programs prior 
to their broad scale implementation. From the social sciences, and particularly 
social and environmental psychology, community-based social marketing 
inherits a variety of behavior-change “tools” that can be utilized to foster 
changes in behavior. 

1 This overview of community-based social marketing first appeared as a “Quick Reference” addendum 

in the second edition of Fostering Sustainable Behavior: An Introduction to Community-Based Social 

Marketing. A revised version appeared in the International Journal of Sustainability (McKenzie-

Mohr, 2008). It was further updated for the book, Social Marketing to Protect the Environment (Sage, 

2011). © Doug McKenzie-Mohr

AN INTRODUCTION

by Doug McKenzie-Mohr PhDTABLE OF CONTENTS

Step 1: Selecting Behaviors ................2

Step 2: Identifying Barriers  
and Benefits ........................................ 5

Step 3: Developing a Strategy ............6

Commitment.......................................6

Prompts .............................................. 7

Norms ................................................. 7

Social Diffusion .................................. 7

Services or Products ...........................8

Communication ..................................8

Incentives/Disincentives ....................9

Convenience .......................................9

Step 4: Conducting a Pilot ..................9

Step 5: Broad scale Implementation  
and Ongoing Evaluation ................... 10

www.cbsm.com An Introduction to CBSM » 1

Page 20 of 30



2 « An Introduction to CBSM www.cbsm.com

Community-based social marketing involves five steps: 

1. Selecting which behavior to target; 

2. Identifying the barriers and benefits to the selected 
behavior; 

3. Developing a strategy that reduces barriers to the 
behavior to be promoted, while simultaneously 
increasing the behavior’s perceived benefits; 

4. Piloting the strategy; and 

5. Broad scale implementation and ongoing evaluation 
once the strategy has been broadly implemented. 

6. In this overview of community-based social marketing, 
each of these steps will be described. 

STEP 1: SELECTING BEHAVIORS

Prior to selecting which behavior(s) to promote, consider 
first which audiences are relevant to target. For example, 
imagine that a program is being developed to promote 
energy efficiency in order to reduce CO2 emissions.  
To gauge which audience should be targeted, program 
development should begin by comparing energy use 
by sector. In Canada, energy use differs markedly by 
sector, with industrial, transportation and residential 
sectors responsible for the greatest energy use (Natural 
Resources Canada, 2006).2 Of these, further imagine that 
the residential sector has been selected as it provides the 
opportunity to address both residential energy use and 
transportation choices (in this example, however, we  
will focus only on residential energy use). 

It is nearly always the case that organizations 
working to promote sustainability have a plethora 
of behaviors from which to choose, and residential 
energy use is no different. For example, in delivering a 
program to enhance the energy efficiency of residential 
homes, we could promote the installation of low-flow 
showerheads or programmable thermostats, the addition 
of insulation to an attic, or the turning off of lights. 
Indeed, in a program in Queensland, Australia over 
200 actions were identified that a homeowner can take 
to increase residential energy efficiency (Hargroves, 
Desha, & McKenzie-Mohr, 2009). Other areas, such as 
waste reduction, watershed protection, biodiversity 
protection and water efficiency have similarly long lists 
of potential behaviors that could be fostered. Clearly, 
not all behaviors are of equal importance so how do we 
determine which to promote? Begin by assessing how 

2  Note that you cannot simply look at energy use, as various forms of 

energy production differ dramatically in their output of CO2 (e.g., coal 

versus hydro electric).

your issue (e.g., landfill waste, water, biodiversity loss, air 
pollution) is affected by a particular sector. In the case of 
residential energy use, this would involve beginning by 
exploring how energy is utilized within a home.

As shown in the chart below, space heating makes 
up the majority of Canadian residential energy use 
(60%), while space cooling contributes only 2%. Clearly, 
far larger reductions in residential energy use, and 
associated CO2 emissions, can be gained by focusing on 
space heating rather than cooling. The chart also reveals 
that water heating contributes 18% of energy use, which 
is intriguing as numerous energy efficiency campaigns 
in Canada focus on space heating and the purchase of 
energy efficient appliances (the third most important 
category at 10%), while largely ignoring water heating. 

This type of analysis provides useful guidance regarding 
which behaviors are potential candidates for programs 
you might deliver. Based on the above chart, we 
should gravitate toward behaviors related to reducing 
energy use for space heating, water heating and major 
appliances. How do we select behaviors within each of 
these areas? In creating our list of behaviors we should 
be guided by two criteria: no behavior should be divisible; 
and each behavior should be end-state. As the name 
suggests, divisible behaviors are those actions that can 
be divided further into more specific behaviors. For 
example, adding additional 

insulation to a home is a divisible behavior. A 
homeowner might add insulation to their attic, their 
basement or to the external shell of their dwelling. Each 
of these behaviors is distinct and will have their own set 
of barriers and benefits. Since the barriers to sustainable 
behaviors are o#en behavior specific, it is critical to 
begin by listing behaviors that are non-divisible. Failing 
to do so will leave a program planner with categories 
of behaviors that o#en differ dramatically in their 
associated barriers and benefits.

In addition to ensuring that a behavior is not divisible, 
we also want to ensure that it is end-state. For instance, 
our principal interest is not in having people purchase 
high efficiency showerheads, but rather in having them 
installed. In contrast, in the case of programmable 
thermostats, our principal interest is not in having 
homeowners install a setback thermostat, but rather 
in them programming it. Too frequently, initiatives to 

SPACE HEATING 63%

WATER HEATING 18%

MAJOR APPLIANCES 9%

OTHER APPLIANCES 4%

LIGHTING 4%

SPACE COOLING 2%

Page 21 of 30



www.cbsm.com An Introduction to CBSM » 3

promote sustainable behavior focus on prior behaviors 
and never achieve the end-state behavioral change that 
matters. In determining whether a behavior is end-state, 
simply ask: “Am I hoping that someone will engage 
in this action as precursor to the behavior I wish to 
promote?” If the answer is “yes,” you have not selected 
an end-state behavior. It is important to not list actions 
that precede end-state behaviors as there is no guarantee 
that if someone engages in the activity that they will 
actually engage in the end-state behavior you wish 
to promote. Finally, in creating a list of non-divisible 
end-state behaviors ensure that no item on the list is a 
strategy. For instance, having a household participate in 
an energy audit is not an end-state behavior, but rather 
a strategy that might lead to an end-state behavior, such 
as installing additional insulation in an attic. It is not 
until we have determined the barriers and benefits to a 
behavior that we should begin considering strategies to 
facilitate the adoption of that behavior.

Once we have created a list of non-divisible end-state 
behaviors we will want to compare these behaviors 
to determine which are worth promoting. To compare 
them we will need three types of information for each 
behavior: A) How impactful is the behavior; B) What level 
of penetration has the behavior already achieved (e.g., 
How many people are already doing the behavior); and 
C) How probable is that those who are not yet doing the 
behavior will adopt it?

Determining Impact: Two options exist for identifying 
the impact of various behaviors. The first, and preferable 
option, is to collect rigorous data on the impact that a 
variety of behaviors will have upon your issue. In the 
case of residential energy efficiency, we would want to 
scrutinize how various behaviors compare regarding 
energy use. That is, we would collect information on 
how behaviors, such as adding insulation to an attic, 
installing a high efficiency showerhead, and turning 
down the temperature on the hot water heater, compare 
to one another related to energy use. Frequently, this 
information is available from federal and state/provincial 
agencies. When such data does not exist, we will need 
to employ the second option, which involves surveying 
individuals who have technical expertise in the area 
of interest. It is suggested that these experts be asked 
to rate each behavior on a scale of 0 to 4, where “0” 
equals “no impact” and “4” equals “high impact.” Ratings 
from experts should be sought independently and 
then averaged. That is, do not bring together a group 
of experts, have them discuss residential energy use 
associated with the list of behaviors and then have  
them rate the actions. Independent ratings have  
superior psychometric properties and are less prone 
to errors that can occur with group-based ratings 
(McKenzie-Mohr, 2010). 

Determining Penetration: Two options also exist for 
determining penetration. The first, and most reliable, is 

to unobtrusively observe the target audience to gauge 
their present level of engagement in various behaviors. 
This approach works well for such behaviors as curbside 
recycling, bicycling and carpooling, which are easily 
observed, but is not useful for behaviors that are not 
easily observed, such as the installation of high efficiency 
showerheads. When behaviors are not easily observed, 
utilize the second option which involves surveying the 
target audience and asking them how o#en, if at all, 
they engage in each of the behaviors on the list. If the 
behavior is a one-time action, such as installing a water 
efficient showerhead, simply ask if they have done the 
action. In contrast, if the behavior is repetitive, such as 
washing clothes in cold water, ask what percentage of 
the time they engage in the action. As with ratings of 
probability, these numbers are likely to be unreliable. 
As a consequence, it is not the absolute numbers that 
we should attend to, but rather the range of values. For 
example, if 50% of households indicate that they have 
installed high efficiency showerheads and 20% note that 
they have insulated their hot water heater, it is not the 
absolute numbers (50% versus 20%) but rather the range 
between these numbers that we should attend to. That 
is, we can’t say with confidence that 50% of households 
have installed high efficiency showerheads as there 
is a tendency for positive environmental behaviors to 
be over-reported, but we can say with confidence that 
high efficiency showerheads are more likely to have 
been installed than hot water heater insulation. Finally, 
remember that we are looking for behaviors that have 
low penetration associated with them. That is, we are 
looking for those behaviors that fewer people have 
engaged in as they provide more potential for change. 

Determining Probability: Two options also exist for 
determining probability. The most rigorous and  
desirable option is to look for carefully evaluated 
programs that have been delivered to facilitate each 
of the behaviors that on your list. It is important to 
note several issues regarding such programs. First, 
the generalizability of the programs needs to be 
considered. Only those programs that closely match 
the circumstances and context under which we would 
be delivering a program should be considered. For 
instance, water shortages in Australia are a more 
pressing problem, and have received far more national 
attention, than water shortages have in Canada. Further, 
information regarding the per capita costs to deliver  
each program should be obtained so that return on 
investment (ROI) for each program can be calculated. 

Collecting detailed case study information for a long 
list of behaviors is cost and time prohibitive. If the 
list of behaviors is large, we may wish to first survey 
the target audience regarding the probability of them 
engaging in each behavior (this survey would also 
include the penetration ratings described above). In 
the case of residential energy efficiency, householders 

Page 22 of 30



4 « An Introduction to CBSM www.cbsm.com

should be asked to rate the probability of engaging in 
each of the behaviors on a scale of 0 to 4, where “0” 
equals “no likelihood” and “4” equals “high likelihood.” 
You will need to provide some context in order for the 
responses to be meaningful (e.g., What is the likelihood 
that you would install a high efficiency showerhead if 
you had to purchase and install the showerhead yourself? 
versus What is the likelihood that you would install a 
high efficiency showerhead if we provided you with a 
showerhead and you had to install it yourself?). Note 
that as with ratings for penetrations, values obtained 
from this survey will not be representative of the actual 
likelihood of householders engaging in these behaviors, 
as there is a strong tendency for respondents to “inflate” 
the likelihood of engaging in a behavior. Nonetheless, 
the range of the values obtained is a good indicator of 
the relative likelihood of a target audience engaging in 
these behaviors. When the list of non-divisible end-
state behaviors is large, it is worthwhile to begin with 
this survey in order to cull the list down to a more 
manageable number for which case study information 
(e.g., option 1) can be collected. Note that we can o#en 
also substantially reduce the length of the list by 
focusing on those categories that will lead to the greatest 
impacts. In the case of reducing residential energy use 
in Canada that would involve behaviors related to space 
heating, water heating and major appliances.

Use a table such as the one below to compare your list 
of behaviors. Ideally, we are looking for those behaviors 
that have high impact and probability, but low levels 
of penetration. We can compare various behaviors 
by multiplying the impact that a behavior has, by the 
current level of penetration, by the probability of a target 
audience engaging in the behavior to obtain a behavior’s 
weight (we are looking for those behaviors that have the 
largest weights). Since we are looking for behaviors that 

presently have low levels of adoption, we need to invert 
penetration values before multiplying the three numbers. 
To do this, simply subtract the present level of adoption 
from one (e.g., if 60% of households have installed high 
efficiency showerheads subtract .60 from 1 to obtain 
the number of people (40%) who we could realistically 
encourage to install high efficiency showerheads. The 
following table provides some fictitious values to 
demonstrate how two residential energy efficiency 
behaviors might compare to one another. As is shown 
in the table, even though the probability of installing 
compact fluorescent light bulbs (CFLs) is significantly 
higher than the probability of installing high efficiency 
showerheads, the higher impact and lower level of 
penetration for showerheads makes their promotion 
more worthwhile than that of CFLs.

In determining which behaviors to select for your 
program, you should gravitate toward two types of 
behaviors. If you are interested in encouraging only 
one action, then you will want to choose the behavior 
that has the largest weight as it represents the best 
interaction between impact, penetration and probability. 
In contrast, if you are interested in encouraging a variety 
of actions over time, you may wish to select a behavior 
that is less impactful, but has a very high probability 
of your target audience engaging in the action and for 
which there are currently low levels of adoption. In well-
designed programs, such catalytic behaviors may be used 
as stepping-stones to more substantive actions being 
taken at a later time.

In summary, begin by determining the relative 
importance of various sectors for the issue of concern 
(e.g., watershed contamination, airshed pollutants, 
water use, etc.). Second, for the most important sectors 
determine how they contribute to your issue (e.g., 
What percentage of residential water use is for toilets, 

BEHAVIOR

IMPACT

(KG/PER 

HOUSEHOLD/

YEAR)

PROBABILITY

(0 TO 4)

PENETRATION

(1 - VALUE)
WEIGHT

Purchase Green 
Power

8700 2.15 v.85 15,899

Install 3 High 
Efficiency Shower 

heads
650 2.5 .35 569

Wash Clothes in 
Cold Water

450 3.09 .63 876

Formula: Weight = Impact x (1 – Penetration) x Probability

Page 23 of 30



www.cbsm.com An Introduction to CBSM » 5

showering, washing dishes, washing clothes, watering 
lawns and gardens?). Third, determine the behaviors  
that are associated with each of these areas (e.g., 
reducing water used for showering could involve 
taking shorter showers or installing high efficiency 
showerheads). Fourth, compare these behaviors 
regarding impacts, penetration and probability to 
determine the most important behaviors to target in  
your program. This process can be used for a wide 
diversity of environmental issues and will significantly 
enhance your confidence that you have selected the  
most appropriate behaviors to target. 

STEP 2: IDENTIFYING BARRIERS AND BENEFITS

Research indicates that each form of sustainable 
behavior has its own set of perceived barriers and 
benefits (Oskamp et al., 1991; McKenzie-Mohr et al., 
1995; Tracy, 1983-84). For example, the factors that 
impede individuals from composting are quite different 
from those that preclude more sustainable forms of 
transportation. Even with apparently closely associated 
behaviors such as recycling, composting and source 
reduction, different sets of barriers and benefits have 
been found to be important. Further, barriers and benefits 
also differ by groupings of individuals or “segments.” 
Identifying these segments occurs during both the first 
and second steps of community-based social marketing. 
When selecting behaviors, determining which sectors 
are most important (e.g. residential, commercial, etc.) 
broadly defines target audiences. During the second 
step, uncovering how barriers and benefits differ for 
different segments within a sector will allow you 
to more effectively target different audiences. For 
instance, low-income households will be less able to 
afford the purchase of a high efficiency showerhead 
than households that are more affluent. Consequently, a 
strategy to encourage the installation of high-efficiency 
showerheads for low-income households would differ 
from a strategy that was promoting the same behavior 
for more affluent households.

Barriers to a sustainable behavior may be internal  
to an individual, such as one’s lack of knowledge, non-
supportive attitudes or an absence of motivation (Stern 
& Oskamp, 1987). On the other hand, barriers may reside 
outside the individual, as in changes that need to be made 
in order for the behavior to be more convenient (e.g., 
providing curbside organic collection) or affordable (e.g., 
subsidizing public transit or compost units). Multiple 
barriers may exist for any form of sustainable behavior. 
As a result, once we have selected which behavior has the 
best combination of impact, penetration and probability, 
we next need to identify its barriers and benefits. 

Uncovering barriers and benefits involves four steps. 
Begin by reviewing relevant articles and reports. Next, 
obtain qualitative information through observations 

and focus groups; methodologies that are intended 
to help you identify “a list” of potential barriers and 
benefits. Finally, conduct a survey with a random 
sample of your target audience. The use of several 
different methodologies to uncover and rank barriers and 
benefits is called triangulation. Triangulation allows the 
weaknesses of one approach (e.g., focus groups have poor 
generalizability due to the small number of participants 
and low participation rates) to be addressed by the 
strength of another approach (e.g., survey results can 
be more easily generalized to your target audience, but 
don’t o#en provide the rich detail that focus groups do).

LITERATURE REVIEW: In conducting the literature 
review consult four sources: 1) Trade magazines and 
newsletters; 2) Reports, 3) Academic articles, and 
4) Authors of reports and articles that you found 
particularly useful.

OBSERVATIONS: Observational studies of specific 
behaviors are another valuable tool. By directly 
observing people we can more easily identify skill 
deficits, and sequences and incentives that are already 
at work to reward existing behaviors. Observational 
studies help reduce the problems of self-report data and 
get the researcher much closer to the community and 
the behavior. Observation is also useful in evaluating 
behavioral compliance, particularly for behaviors where 
people are being asked to learn and maintain new skills.

FOCUS GROUPS: The literature review and 
observations will assist you in identifying issues to 
further explore with your target audience through 
focus groups and a survey. Limit the size of each 
focus groups to 6 to 8 people and divide participants 
into different groups based on whether they have 
previously engaged in the behavior (e.g., installed a 
programmable thermostat) or not. Further, make it 
easy for people to participate by providing services 
such as childcare and transportation. Come to the 
focus groups with a set of clearly defined questions 
that have been informed by the literature review 
and observations. The facilitator of the focus groups 
must clearly steer the discussion and ensure that 
all participants feel comfortable in participating. 
Have an assistant who takes notes during the group. 
Don’t provide information about your program 
prior to the focus groups, as this information will 
influence the information received from participants. 
When the focus groups are completed, tabulate the 
responses and identify barriers and benefits that are 
mentioned by significant numbers of participants 
(see the Focus Group Kit by Morgan and Krueger, 
1998, for further information).

Focus groups are useful in obtaining in-depth 
information but are limited by the small number of 

Page 24 of 30



6 « An Introduction to CBSM www.cbsm.com

participants and the influence that the group itself 
has upon what each member feels comfortable saying. 
Surveys overcome these two limitations. 

SURVEYS: Conducting a survey consists of seven steps. 
First, begin by clarifying the objective of the survey. Do 
this by creating a survey objective statement, which 
indicates the purpose of the survey. A good question 
to help facilitate this is to ask “What decisions am I 
trying to make that I need this research to help answer?” 
This statement can be used to ensure the support of 
colleagues before proceeding. This statement can also 
act as a reference when later deciding upon the relevance 
of potential survey items. Second, list the items that 
are to be measured. Note that at this point that we are 
not concerned with writing the questions, but rather 
with identifying the “themes” or “topics” that will be 
covered in the questionnaire. Third, have someone 
skilled in survey development write the survey. Fourth, 
when the survey is completed, take the time to pilot it 
with 10 to 15 people. Piloting the survey allows you to 
scrutinize the wording of the questions and the length 
of the survey. Don’t include the data obtained from the 
pilot with the data obtained from the actual survey. 
Fi#h, select the sample. Surveys are most useful when 
the respondents are randomly selected from the target 
audience. A sample has been randomly selected when 
each adult in the target audience has an equal chance 
of being asked to participate. When this criterion is met, 
we can generalize results back to the whole community 
with greater confidence. As with the focus groups, survey 
samples should be comprised of two sub-groups. Those 
who have engaged in the behavior already and those 
who have not yet done so, sometimes referred to as a 
“doer versus nondoer” analysis. Sixth, conduct the survey. 
Strive to conduct the survey as quickly as possible 
to reduce the likelihood of an event in the real world 
impacting upon your survey results (e.g. BP and the Gulf 
of Mexico). Seventh, analyze the data. Unless you have 
someone on staff with a statistical background, you will 
want to have the survey data analyzed for you. In having 
the data analyzed, ask for a thorough description of those 
individuals who are engaging in the activity, as well as 
for those that are not (descriptive statistics). Also, ask  
for the factors that distinguish people who are doing  
the behavior, such as composting, from those who 
are not, and the relative importance of these factors 
(multivariate statistics).

Significant pressures, such as time and staffing 
constraints, and increased project costs, o#en result 
in this second step, the identification of barriers and 
benefits, being skipped. While these pressures are real 
and important, failure to identify barriers will o#en 
result in a program that either has a diminished impact 
or no impact at all. The identification of barriers and 
benefits is an essential step in the development of a 

sound community-based social marketing strategy. 
By conducting a literature review, focus groups, 
observations and a survey, you will be well positioned  
to develop an effective strategy.

STEP 3: DEVELOPING A STRATEGY

Community-based social marketing involves developing 
a strategy that addresses both the behavior we wish to 
promote and the behavior we wish to discourage. For 
the behavior we wish to promote, we want to reduce its 
barriers while simultaneously increasing its benefits. 
In contrast, we wish to do the opposite for the behavior 
we wish to discourage – we wish to increase its barriers 
while also reducing its benefits (the introduction of car 
pooling lanes both increases barriers to single occupant 
driving and reduces its benefits). A variety of behavior 
change “tools” can assist with this task. Additional 
information on these tools can be found in, Fostering 
sustainable behavior: An introduction to community-based 
social marketing 3rd Edition (McKenzie-Mohr, 2011).

COMMITMENT: In a wide variety of settings, people who 
have initially agreed to a small request, such as to wear a 
button saying they support the purchase of products with 
recycled-content, have subsequently been found to be far 
more likely to agree to a larger request, such as actually 
purchasing these products (McKenzie-Mohr, 2010). 

Why does seeking commitment to an initial small 
request work? There are likely two reasons (Cialdini, 
1993). First, when people go along with an initial request, 
it o#en alters the way they perceive themselves. That 
is, they come to see themselves, for example, as the 
type of person who believes it is important to purchase 
products that have recycled content. Second, we have a 
strong desire to be seen as consistent by others. Indeed, 
our society emphasizes consistency and people who are 
inconsistent are o#en viewed negatively. As a result, if 
we agree to wear a button supporting the purchase of 
recycled-content products, it would be inconsistent not  
to purchase these products when we shop.

Commitment has been utilized as a behavior change 
tool in a variety of studies with o#en-dramatic results. In 
considering using commitment, follow these guidelines:

Emphasize public over written or verbal commitments. 
Public commitments (e.g., having a signs placed on 
lawns indicating that the lawn is pesticide free) have 
been found to be more effective in bringing about long-
term behavioral changes (Pallak, Cook & Sullivan, 1980).

Seek commitments in groups. If possible, seek 
commitments from groups of people that are highly 
cohesive, such as a church group. The close ties of 
these individuals, coupled with the importance of being 
consistent, make it more likely that people will follow 
through with their commitment (Wang & Katzev, 1990).

Actively involve the person. When people are actively 

Page 25 of 30



www.cbsm.com An Introduction to CBSM » 7

involved, such as being asked to peer into an attic to 
view the amount of insulation or hold a container to 
measure the flow-rate of a shower, they are more likely 
to see themselves as committed to the activity (Gonzales, 
Aronson, & Costanzo, 1988).

Use existing points of contact to obtain commitments. 
Wherever natural contact occurs, look for opportunities 
to seek a commitment. For example, when people 
purchase paint ask them to sign a commitment that they 
will dispose of any le#over paint properly, or, better yet, 
take it to a paint exchange if one exists.

Help people to view themselves as environmentally 
concerned. We can help people to see themselves 
as environmentally concerned, and therefore 
more committed to other sustainable activities, by 
commenting on their past actions (McKenzie-Mohr, 
2011). For example, when someone comes to pick up 
a composter, ask if they recycle. If they do, note that 
their recycling is evidence of their concern for the 
environment and that beginning composting is a natural 
way to reduce waste even more. 

Don’t use coercion. In order for this behavior change 
tool to be effective, the commitment has to be freely 
volunteered. That is, only ask for commitments when 
people appear to be interested in an activity (McKenzie-
Mohr, 2011).

PROMPTS: Numerous behaviors that support 
sustainability are susceptible to the most human of 
traits: forgetting. People have to remember to turn off 
lights, check the air pressure in car tires, turn off the 
engine when waiting to pick someone up, turn down the 
thermostat, select items that have recycled-content, etc. 
Fortunately, prompts can be very effective in reminding 
us to perform these activities. Prompts are visual or 
auditory aids that remind us to carry out an activity 
that we might otherwise forget. In using prompts you 
will want to ensure that you follow these guidelines 
(McKenzie-Mohr, 2010):

Make the prompt noticeable. In order for a prompt to 
be effective it has to first be noticed. Make sure that your 
prompt is vivid (a bright color) and eye-catching.

Make the prompt self-explanatory. All the information 
that is needed for someone to take the appropriate 
action should be conveyed in the prompt. For example, 
if we were using a prompt to increase the likelihood 
that people with odd numbered street addresses would 
only water their lawns on odd numbered calendar 
days (and vice versa), the prompt that we attach to an 
outside faucet could read (water your lawn only on odd 
numbered calendar days).

Present the prompt in as close proximity as is possible 
to where the action is to be taken. If we wanted to 
encourage people to turn off lights upon leaving a room, 
for example, we would affix the prompt beside or directly 
on the light switch plate.

Use prompts to encourage people to engage in positive 
behaviors. It is important, when possible, to encourage 
positive behaviors. If you want people to purchase 
environmentally friendly products when shopping, place 
prompts throughout a store that bring attention to those 
items rather than bringing attention to items that should 
be avoided. Not only is the encouragement of positive 
behaviors more likely to be supported by retail outlets 
(few would let negative prompts be posted), but positive 
behaviors also make people feel good about their actions, 
which increases the likelihood that the actions will be 
carried out in the future.

NORMS: To date, few programs have emphasized the 
development of community norms, which support people 
engaging in sustainable behavior. This lack of attention 
to norms is unfortunate given the impact they can have 
upon behavior. Norms guide how we should behave 
(McKenzie-Mohr, 2011). If we observe others acting 
unsustainably, such as using water inefficiently, we are 
more likely to act similarly. In contrast, if we observe 
members of our community acting sustainably we are 
more likely to do the same. When considering including 
norms in programs you develop, keep the following 
guidelines in mind (McKenzie-Mohr, 2010):

Make the Norm Visible. For norms to influence the 
behavior of others they have to be aware of the norm. 
The very act of taking recyclables to the curbside, for 
instance, communicates a community norm about the 
importance of recycling. Most sustainable activities, 
however, do not have the community visibility that 
recycling has, and norms that support the activity, 
therefore, have to be promoted more actively. Find 
ways to publicize involvement in sustainable activities, 
such as providing ongoing community feedback on the 
amount of water that has been saved by homes using 
water efficiently.

Use Personal Contact to Reinforce Norms. Research 
suggests that internalization of norms is more likely to 
occur as a result of personal contact. As a consequence, 
use personal contact as an opportunity to reinforce 
norms that support sustainable behavior.

SOCIAL DIFFUSION: New behaviors are frequently 
adopted because friends, colleagues or family members 
have adopted the behavior – a process known as social 
diffusion (Rogers, 2003). Social diffusion has been 
found to be relevant to the adoption of a wide variety 
of sustainable actions, including, for instance, the 
installation or programmable thermostats and solar hot 
water heaters (Darley & Beniger, 1981). There are two 
ways to facilitate the adoption of new behaviors through 
social diffusion:

Make Commitments Public and Durable: Many of 
the sustainable actions that we would like people to 
adopt have no visibility in the community (McKenzie-

Page 26 of 30



8 « An Introduction to CBSM www.cbsm.com

Mohr, 2010). For example, if a household installs a 
high efficiency showerhead no one in the community is 
aware that this behavior has taken place. Contrast the 
installation of high efficiency showerheads with curbside 
recycling, in which the placement of a container at 
the curbside clearly communicates engagement in the 
behavior. An effective way to increase the visibility of 
invisible behaviors is to ask for public commitments, such 
as the placement of a sticker on the side of recycling 
container indicating that a household has installed a 
high efficiency showerhead. Whenever possible, these 
public commitments should be durable. That is, favor 
attaching a sticker to the side of a recycling container 
versus asking someone to put up a sign on their lawn. 
The sign is likely to last only a few weeks while the 
sticker might last for several years. Public and durable 
commitments enhance social diffusion by encourage 
conversations regarding the behavior.

Recruit Well Known and Well Respected People. 
Individuals who are well known and well respected have 
an inordinate impact upon the adoption of new behaviors. 
For example, well know and well-respected farmers 
are more likely to affect the practices of other farmers 
than those who are less well known and less respected 
(Rogers, 2003). To identify these individuals, simple ask a 
number of members of your target audience who is well 
known and well respected.

SERVICES OR PRODUCTS: Effective programs o#en 
involve providing our target audience with a service 
(household energy audit) or a new product (high 
efficiency showerhead). Note that barriers exist to the 
provision of services (e.g., cost of an audit, when they 
are available) and products (e.g., cost to purchase the 
product, knowledge of product, availability of product) 
that a program needs to address if it is to be effective. 
The delivery of a new service (curbside collection of 
recyclables) and the provision of a new product (curbside 
recycling cart) can o#en dramatically affect the barriers 
to a behavior and encourage its rapid adoption.

COMMUNICATION: Most programs to foster sustainable 
behavior include a communication component. The 
impact of communications upon behavior can vary 
dramatically based upon how the communications 
are developed. To develop effective communications, 
consider the following elements:

Use captivating information. All persuasion 
depends upon capturing attention (Stern & Aronson, 
1984). Without attention, persuasion is impossible. 
Communications can be made more effective by ensuring 
that they are vivid, personal and concrete (Gonzales, 
Aronson, & Costanzo, 1988). 

Know your audience. All communications should 
be developed with your audience in mind. Before 

developing communications, you should have a firm 
sense of the attitudes, beliefs and behavior of your 
intended audience(s).

Use a credible source. The individual or organization 
that presents your message can have a dramatic impact 
upon how it is received and subsequent behavior (Eagly 
& Chaiken,1975). Ensure that whoever delivers your 
message is seen as credible. Individuals or organizations 
tend to be viewed as credible when they have expertise, 
or are seen as trustworthy.

Frame your message. How you present or “frame” 
your activity can impact upon the likelihood that people 
will engage in it (Davis, 1995). In general, you should 
emphasize the losses that occur as a result of inaction 
(e.g., from not insulating) rather than the savings that 
occur from action (e.g. insulating).

Carefully consider threatening messages. While 
environmental issues lend themselves easily to the use 
of threatening messages, do so with caution. While the 
public needs to understand the implications of such 
serious issues as global warming, toxic waste, or ozone 
depletion, they also need to be told what positive action 
they can take if threatening information is to be useful. 
In short, whenever you contemplate using a threatening 
message consider whether you can at the same time 
present concrete actions that individuals can take to 
reduce the threat (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984).

Make your message easy to remember. All sustain-
able activities depend upon memory. People have to 
remember what to do, when to do it, and how to do 
it (Heckler, 1994). Use prompts to assist people in 
remembering. Also develop messages that are clear  
and specific.

Provide personal or community goals. Providing 
targets for a household or community to achieve can 
help to provide motivation for sustainable behavior  
(Folz, 1991). 

Emphasize personal contact. Research on persuasion 
documents that the major influence upon our attitudes 
and behavior is the people we interact with rather 
than the media (Aronson & Gonzales, 1990). Create 
opportunities for people to talk to one another through 
programs such as block leaders, in which individuals 
from a neighborhood who already have experience in a 
sustainable activity, such as composting, speak to others 
who live close by. Through personal contact, provide 
opportunities for people to model sustainable behavior 
for one another, such as installing weather-stripping, 
and facilitate ongoing discussions in your community to 
allow social diffusion of new behaviors to occur.

Provide feedback. Remember to provide members of 
your community with feedback about the effectiveness 
of their actions. Feedback has been found to have a 
positive impact upon the adoption and maintenance of 
sustainable behaviors.

Page 27 of 30



www.cbsm.com An Introduction to CBSM » 9

INCENTIVES/DISINCENTIVES: Incentives have been 
shown to have a substantial impact on a variety of 
sustainable activities including waste reduction, energy 
efficiency and transportation. They are particularly 
useful when motivation to engage in action is low or 
people are not doing the activity as effectively as they 
could. Gardner and Stern (1996) suggest the following 
guidelines in using incentives/disincentives:

Closely pair the incentive and the behavior. The closer 
in time the incentive is presented to the behavior it is 
meant to affect, the more likely that it will be effective.

Use incentives to reward positive behavior. Where 
possible, use incentives to reward people for taking 
positive actions, such as returning beverage containers, 
rather than fine them for engaging in negative actions, 
such as littering.

Make the incentive visible. For incentives to be 
effective, you need to draw people’s attention to them. 
Consider using vivid techniques to make incentives 
noticeable. Also, incentives can be made more visible 
by closely associating them with the behavior they are 
meant to affect, such as having people attach tags to 
their garbage bags in order to have them picked up in a 
user pay garbage disposal program.

Be cautious about removing incentives. Incentives can 
be powerful levers to motivate behavior, but they can 
also undermine internal motivations that people have for 
engaging in an activity. If you plan to use an incentive to 
encourage a sustainable behavior, remember that if you 
elect to remove the incentive at a later time the level of 
motivation that existed prior to the introduction of the 
incentive may no longer exist.

Prepare for people’s attempts to avoid the incentive. 
Incentives such as separate laneways for multiple 
occupant vehicles can have a significant impact upon 
behavior. However, because these incentives powerfully 
reward one behavior (car pooling) and strongly punish 
another (single occupant driving), there is strong 
motivation to try to “beat” the incentive and not engage 
in the desired sustainable behavior (e.g., Having a 
mannequin as a passenger rather than a real person 
in order to drive in carpooling lanes). In preparing 
incentives, give careful consideration to how people  
may try to avoid the incentive and plan accordingly.

Carefully consider the size of the incentive. In arriving 
at what size of incentive to use, study the experience of 
other communities in applying incentives to motivate 
the same behavior.

Use non-monetary incentives. While most incentives 
are monetary, nonmonetary incentives, such as social 
approval, can also exert a strong influence upon behavior. 
Consider ways that social approval and other non-
monetary incentives can be integrated into your program.

CONVENIENCE: The behavior change strategies 
presented above can have a significant influence upon 
the adoption and maintenance of sustainable behaviors. 
However, they will be ineffectual if significant external 
barriers exist to the behavior you wish to promote 
(McKenzie-Mohr, 2011). It is important to identify  
these external barriers and plan for how you will 
overcome them. Study other communities to see how 
they have managed to overcome similar obstacles. For 
example, some communities now provide curbside 
pickup of used motor oil, dramatically enhancing the 
convenience of proper disposal. Assess whether you  
have the resources to overcome the external barriers  
you identify. If you do not, carefully consider whether 
you wish to implement a program until you are able  
to address these barriers effectively.

STEP 4: CONDUCTING A PILOT 

As noted previously, the design of a community-
based social marketing strategy begins with carefully 
selecting a behavior, identifying a target audience, and 
then identifying the perceived barriers and benefits to 
the activity you wish to promote. Knowledge of these 
barriers and benefits is particularly important. Without 
this information it is impossible to design an effective 
program. In identifying barriers, be sure to conduct 
statistical analysis that allows you to prioritize the 
barriers and benefits. Knowing their relative importance 
allows limited resources to be used to their greatest 
benefit. Once you have identified and prioritized the 
barriers and benefits of your target audience, select 
behavior change tools that match the barriers you are 
trying to overcome and create or highlight perceived 
benefits. When you have arrived at a design for your 
program, obtain feedback on your plans from several 
focus groups. Look for recurring themes in their 
comments as they may indicate areas in which your 
planned program needs to be redesigned. 

Once you are confident that you have a program 
that should affect behavior, pilot the program. The 
most common pilot involves collecting baseline 
measurements, implementing a strategy, and then 
collecting follow-up measurements. While this is the 
most common form of pilot, avoid using this method. 
Imagine that we are developing a program to encourage 
bus ridership. We collect data on the number of people 
riding the bus prior to implementing our strategy and 
then again a#erward and notice a marked increase. 
However, at the very same time that we implemented 
our strategy the cost of gasoline rose sharply. As a 
consequence, we do not know whether it was our 
strategy, the cost of gasoline, or a combination of the 

Page 28 of 30



10 « An Introduction to CBSM www.cbsm.com

two that led to the observed increase in ridership. To 
avoid this problem, in conducting the pilot ensure that 
you have at least two groups; one that receives the 
strategy that you developed and another that serves as 
a comparison or control group. You may have more than 
one strategy group if you have developed more than one 
strategy. Testing several strategies against each other on 
a small scale is an effective way of identifying the most 
cost effective way of affecting behavior change. When 
possible, randomly assign your target audience into 
each of your groups. Using random assignment ensures 
that the only difference between your groups is whether 
or not they received a strategy or were in a control 
group. In evaluating the effectiveness of a pilot, focus 
on behavior change rather than measures of awareness 
or attitude change. Further, try to measure behavior 
change directly rather than relying on self-reports as 
these reports are prone to exaggeration. If a pilot is not 
successful in altering behavior, revise the strategy and 
pilot it again. Assuming that we know why a pilot did not 
work, and that we now have the information needed to go 
straight to community-wide implementation, can be  
a very expensive mistake. 

Finally, when conducting a pilot only include those 
program elements that you can afford to deliver in a 
broad scale implementation. If you deliver a pilot in 

which you violate this rule and then strip away program 
elements for your broad scale implementation, your 
broad scale rollout may be unsuccessful. 

STEP 5: BROAD SCALE IMPLEMENTATION AND 
ONGOING EVALUATION

When a pilot is effective at changing behavior we are 
ready to implement the strategy across the community. 
Evaluate community-wide implementation by obtaining 
information on baseline involvement in the activity prior 
to implementation, and at several points a#erward. This 
information can be used to retool a strategy as well as to 
provide a basis for continued funding and provision  
of important feedback to the community.

CONCLUSION

The process of community-based social marketing 
(carefully selecting behaviors, identifying the barriers 
and benefits for the selected activity, developing 
strategies to target these barriers and benefits, pilot 
testing the strategy, and finally broadly implementing it 
once it has been shown to be effective) is transforming 
the way that environmental behavioral change programs 
are delivered.

Aronson, E., & Gonzales, M.H. (1990). Alternative social 
influence processes applied to energy conservation. 
In J. Edwards, R. S. Tindale, L. Heath, & E. J. Posaval 
(Eds.), Social Influences, Processes and Prevention (pp. 
301-325). New York: Plenum.

Cialdini, R. B. (1993). Influence: Science and Practice. New 
York, NY: HarperCollins College Publishers.

Darley, J.M., & Beniger, J. R. (1981). Diffusion of energy-
conserving innovations. Journal of Social Issues, 37, 
150-171.

Davis, J. J. (1995). The effects of message framing 
on response to environmental communications. 
Journalism and Mass Communication Quarterly, 72, 285-
299.

Eagly, A.H., & Chaiken, S. (1975). An attributional 
analysis of the effect of communicator characteristics 
on opinion change: The case of communicator 
attractiveness. Journal of Personality and Social 
Psychology, 32, 136-144.

Environment Canada. (2006). Evaluation of the one-
tonne challenge program. Available online at: http://
www.ec.gc.ca/ae-ve/F2F5FD59-3DDA-46BC-A62E-
C29FDD61E2C5/EvaluationReport-OTC-Eng.doc.

Finger, M. (1994). From knowledge to action? Exploring 
the relationships between environmental experiences, 
learning, and behavior. Journal of Social Issues, 50, 141-
160.

Folz, D. H. (1991). Recycling program design, 
management, and participation: A national survey of 
municipal experience. Public Administration Review, 51, 
222-231.

Gardner, G. T. & Stern, P.C. (1996). Environmental problems 
and human behavior. Boston: Allyn and Bacon.

Geller, E. S., Erickson, J. B., & Buttram, B. A. (1983). 
Attempts to promote residential water conservation 
with educational, behavioral and engineering 
strategies. Population and Environment Behavioral and 
Social Issues, 6 (2), 96-112.

REFERENCES

Page 29 of 30



www.cbsm.com An Introduction to CBSM » 11

Geller, E.S. (1981). Evaluating energy conservation 
programs: Is verbal report enough? Journal of Consumer 
Research, 8, 331-335.

Gonzales, M.H., Aronson, E., & Costanzo, M.A. (1988). 
Using social cognition and persuasion to promote 
energy conservation: A quasi-experiment. Journal of 
Applied Social Psychology, 18(12), 1049-1066.

Hargroves, K., Desha, C. & McKenzie-Mohr, D. (2009). 
Personal communication. 

Heckler, S. E. (1994). The role of memory in 
understanding and encouraging recycling behavior. 
Special Issue: Psychology, marketing, and recycling. 
Psychology and Marketing, 11, 375-392.

Jordan, J. R., Hungerford, H. R., & Tomera, A. N. (1986). 
Effects of two residential environmental workshops 
on high school students. Journal of Environmental 
Education, 18 (1), 15-22.

Kotler, P., Lee, N. & Rothschild, M. (2006). Personal 
communication.

Lazarus, R., & Folkman, S. (1984). Stress, appraisal, and 
coping. New York: Springer.

McKenzie-Mohr, D., Nemiroff, L. S., Beers, L., & 
Desmarais, S. (1995). Determinants of responsible 
environmental behavior. Journal of Social Issues, 51, 
139-156.

McKenzie-Mohr, D. (2008). Fostering Sustainable 
Behavior: Beyond Brochures, International Journal of 
Sustainability Communication, 3, 108-118.

McKenzie-Mohr (2011). Fostering Sustainable behavior: An 
introduction to community-based social marketing (3rd 
Edition), New Society: Gabriola Island, B.C. 

Midden, C. J., Meter, J. E., Weenig, M. H., & Zieverink, 
H. J. (1983). Using feedback, reinforcement and 
information to reduce energy consumption in 
households: A field-experiment. Journal of Economic 
Psychology, 3, 65-86.

Morgan, D.L. & Krueger, R.A. (1998). The focus group kit. 
Thousand Oaks, California: Sage. 

Oskamp, S., Harrington, M.J., Edwards, T.C., Sherwood, 
D.L., Okuda, S.M., & Swanson, D.C. (1991). Factors 
influencing household recycling behavior. Environment 
and Behavior, 23(4), 494-519. 

Pallak, M.S., Cook, D.A., & Sullivan, J.J. (1980). 
Commitment and energy conservation. In L. Bickman 
(Ed.), Applied social psychology annual (pp. 235-253). 
Beverly Hills, CA: Sage. 

Rogers, E.M., (1993). Diffusion of innovations (6th ed.). 
New York: Free Press.

Schultz, P. W. (2002). Knowledge, education, and 
household recycling: Examining the knowledge-deficit 
model of behavior change. In T. Dietz & P. Stern (Eds.), 
New tools for environmental protection (pp. 67-82). 
Washington, DC: National Academy of Science

Stern, P.C., & Aronson, E. (Ed.). (1984). Energy use: The 
human dimension. New York: Freeman.

Stern, P.C., & Oskamp, S. (1987). Managing scarce 
environmental resources. In D. Stokols, & I. Altman 
(Eds.), Handbook of environmental psychology (pp. 
1043-1088). New York: Wiley.

Tedeschi, R. G., Cann, A., & Siegfried, W. D. (1982). 
Participation in voluntary auto emissions inspection. 
Journal of Social Psychology, 117, 309-310.

Tracy, A.P., & Oskamp, S. (1983-84). Relationships 
among ecologically responsible behaviors. Journal of 
Environmental Systems, 13(2), 115-126.

Wang, T. H. & Katzev, R. D. (1990). Group commitment 
and resource conservation: Two field experiments 
on promoting recycling. Journal of Applied Social 
Psychology, 20, 265-275.

REFERENCES (cont.)

Page 30 of 30


	1_25-01 Print Version - WMCC Agenda.pdf
	2_1_CoverSheet_Meeting-Minutes_DRAFT.pdf
	2_24-0911&12 Meeting Minutes DRAFT.pdf
	3_WMCC Ex Comm Project Request Decisions.pdf
	4-1_CoverSheet_DraftRequestProcess.pdf
	4-2_24-1211_DraftRequestProcess.pdf
	DRAFT – Commission Decision Points

	5-1_CoverSheet_WMCC-Grants-Open.pdf
	5-2_WMCC-Grants-Open.pdf
	6_1_CoverSheet_WMCC-Video-Playlist.pdf
	6_WMCC Video Playlist.pdf
	7_1_CoverSheet_CBSMOverview.pdf
	7_CBSMOverview.pdf



